IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN F. MOSLEY	7		CASE NO.:	SC06-1408
Appellant,	,			
vs.				
STATE OF FLORI	DA,			
Appellee.	/			
	APPELLANT'	'S INITIAL BRI	EF	

On direct review from a decision of the Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit imposing a sentence of death

RYAN THOMAS TRUSKOSKI, ESQ. RYAN THOMAS TRUSKOSKI, P.A. FLORIDA BAR NO: 0144886 P.O. BOX 568005 ORLANDO, FL 32856-8005 (407) 841-7676

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

BACKGROUND

Defendant John Mosley and Carolyn Mosley had been married for over 15 years. R19, p. 1881-1882. Nevertheless, Carolyn Mosley was aware that her husband had an extramarital affair; She knew her husband had "cheated" on her. R19, p. 1502.

Defendant John Mosley had, in fact, been seeing a woman named Lynda Wilkes. R12, p. 620. Lynda Wilkes had an adult daughter named Marquita Wilkes. According to Marquita Wilkes, the Defendant would visit Lynda Wilkes during the evening. He would sometimes bring clothes for Lynda Wilkes' new baby, Jay-Quan Mosley. R13, p. 620. Marquita Wilkes was of the understanding that the infant Jay-Quan Mosley was born of Defendant John Mosley. R13, p. 637.

On December 27, 2003, the Florida Department of Revenue served Defendant John Mosley with a paternity lawsuit in order to force the Defendant to pay child support for Jay-Quan Mosley. R15, p. 1055. Approximately two months later, a default paternity judgment was entered against the Defendant. That default paternity judgment required the Defendant to pay \$35 per week child support for

Jay-Quan Mosley. R15, p. 1056-1057. Eleven days later, on March 12, 2004, the Defendant filed a motion to set that default paternity judgment aside. R15, p. 1507.

On April 21, 2005, the Defendant stopped by Lynda Wilkes' home. He visited with her and Marquita Wilkes. R8, p. 630-631. The Defendant and Lynda Wilkes eventually went into a back bedroom and had sexual intercourse. R8, p. 623; R14, p. 915; R14, p. 964, 969. They made plans to meet again the following day at the nearby JC Penney shopping center. R14, p. 980-981.

On this same day, the Defendant arranged for a plumber to appear at the home shared by Defendant and his wife the following day in order to repair a leaky toilet. R18, p. 1751-1752, 1755.

The following day, April 22, 2004, Lynda Wilkes rose and prepared her children for school. R8, p. 642. She informed her second daughter, Naquita Wilkes, that she would be taking Jay-Quan Mosley, to the JC Penney store to meet with the Defendant and to do some shopping. R8, p. 643. This was the last time Naquita Wilkes ever saw Lynda Wilkes or Jay-Quan Mosley. R8, p. 624-645. For this reason, April 22, 2004 is referred to as the "day of the disappearance" in this brief.

CO-DEFENDANT BERNARD GRIFFIN'S DESCRIPTION OF THE MURDERS

Bernard Griffin was 15 years old at the time of the disappearance. R1, p. 2. Even though he himself was a suspect and ended up only being charged as Defendant's accessory, he described how Lynda Wilkes and Jay-Quan Mosley were killed, and how their bodies were disposed of. R13, p. 670.

According to Bernard Griffin, the Defendant wanted a baby killed. R13, p. 680. He offered Bernard Griffin \$15,000 to kill it. R13, p. 681. The Defendant instructed him to enter Lynda Wilkes' house and shoot the baby and anyone else that got in the way. R13, p. 682. The Defendant gave Bernard Griffin a diagram of Lynda Wilkes' house. The Defendant told Bernard Griffin that he would provide him a gun. R13, p. 682.

On April 22, 2004, the day of the disappearance, Bernard Griffin telephoned the Defendant and asked the Defendant to drive him to the home of Ms. Kenya Mobley. Kenya Mobley lived in the Kendall Court Apartments. R13, p. 685.

The Defendant drove his Chevrolet Suburban truck to Bernard Griffin's home. R13, p. 685-686. The Defendant pointed out to Bernard Griffin that "the lady and the baby" were sitting in the truck. R13, p. 686. Bernard Griffin got in. The Defendant drove past the Kendall Court Apartments (R13, p. 688) and

continued on to a dirt-road, wooded area on the outskirts of town. He instructed Lynda Wilkes to step out of the truck. R13, p. 689. She obeyed, holding the infant Jay-Quan Mosley in her hands. R13, p. 689.

The Defendant then grabbed Lynda Wilkes by her neck and strangled her. R13, p. 689. He placed a bag over her head and put her body in the back of his truck. R13, p. 691.

The infant, Jay-Quan Mosley, was on the ground, crying. At Defendant's instructions, Bernard Griffin held open a plastic garbage bag. The Defendant placed the crying infant in it, tied it shut, and placed it in the back of Defendant's truck. R13, p. 691-692. The Defendant covered the bag and Lynda Wilkes' body with a blue plastic tarp. R13, p. 693. The infant could still be heard crying. R13, p. 692. As they drove out of the wooded area, the baby's crying stopped. R13, p. 692.

The Defendant dropped Bernard Griffin off at Ms. Kenya Mobley's home at the Kendall Court Apartments.

BERNARD GRIFFIN'S TESTIMONY ABOUT THE BODY-DISPOSAL TRIP

According to Bernard Griffin, the Defendant returned to Bernard Griffin's house around 11:00 p.m. that same evening. R13, p. 695. Bernard Griffin climbed into the Defendant's truck and noticed a foul smell. R13, p. 696. The Defendant drove "out of town." Bernard Griffin remembered seeing a "Gainesville" sign.

The Defendant utilized his cell phone on the trip. R13, p. 696. They drove for "like about close to an hour" (R13, p. 697) and eventually ended up in a wooded area.

R 13, p. 697-698.

Both of them donned gloves that the Defendant kept in the back of his truck. R13, p. 698. They removed Lynda Wilkes' body. The Defendant poured lighter fluid on it and set it on fire. R13, p. 699. The Defendant told Bernard Griffin that this was necessary because Lynda Wilkes had scratched him. R13, p. 699.

The pair climbed back into the truck. The Defendant continued driving away from Jacksonville for "a couple of hours." They ended up at a dumpster behind a Winn-Dixie supermarket. R13, p. 701. The Defendant removed the bag containing what Bernard Griffin assumed was the dead baby. The Defendant placed it in the dumpster. R13, p. 701. The Defendant instructed Bernard Griffin

to remove his gloves and shoes and place them in the dumpster as well. R13, p. 701.

On the way back to Jacksonville, The Defendant gave Bernard Griffin \$100 cash. R13, p. 702. The Defendant stopped at an apartment building, took back \$20 of cash from Bernard Griffin, and asked him to wait in the truck for "a couple of minutes." The Defendant went briefly to the front door of the apartment, and returned to the truck. R13, p. 702-703. He drove Bernard Griffin home. By the time they arrived, it was daylight. R13, p. 703.

Shortly thereafter, the Defendant contacted Bernard Griffin and asked for assistance in finding a tag to switch with the one on his truck. R13, p. 704. The Defendant informed Bernard Griffin he was going to switch the tires on his truck so the police could not match them to any tire tracks they had left behind. R13, p. 704. Eventually, Bernard Griffin went to the police. Over the course of several interviews, he told them what he remembered of the homicides. R13, p 704.

SEARCH FOR VICTIMS' BODIES

Bernard Griffin was able to take the police to the purported killing site. It was off Armsdale Road, on the outskirts of Jacksonville. R15, p. 1088-1091.

With the help of a police sketch artist and Bernard Griffin's limited recollection of some of the features of the body-burning site, the police were eventually able to find Lynda Wilkes' charred body. It was in a field near Waldo, Florida. R15, p. 1094-1098.

At the body-burning site, the police recovered three rings, a watch stopped at 2:29, keys and pieces of cloth from the charred remains. R14, p. 837; R 15, p. 1100. The keys fit victim Lynda Wilkes' car. R15, p. 1099-1100. The jewelry and watches were identified as those belonging to Lynda Wilkes. The State Medical Examiner submitted pieces of a femur and vertebra for DNA testing. R14, p. 885.

The DNA obtained from Lynda Wilkes' bones matched the DNA from the bloodstain found in Defendant's truck. R17, p. 1517-1518. Ultimately, the prosecution and defense stipulated that the charred body was indeed that of victim Lynda Wilkes. R17, p. 1419.

With Bernard Griffin's assistance, the police found the Winn-Dixie supermarket dumpster that Bernard Griffin believed the Defendant threw the infant's bagged body into. This was one week post-accident. Nothing was found in the dumpster. R15, p. 1088-1089. Investigation revealed that the dumpster contents had been transported to a landfill in Valdosta, Georgia. R15, p. 1159. An

extensive search of that landfill failed to produce any evidence of infant Jay-Quan Mosley. R15, 1105-1106.

The prosecution presented the testimony of a forensic anthropologist who testified that searches for bodies in landfills are very difficult. R 16, p. 1342-1343, 1347. An employee of the subject landfill testified that the landfill company uses massive tractors equipped with trash-pulverizing "cleats" to pulverize and compress the trash. This is done to maximize the use of expensive landfill space. R17, p. 1472.

A search of the Defendant's truck produced a gas can, black plastic bags, disposable gloves, and some blood-stained carpet. R14, p. 853-858.

According to State Medical Examiner Marguerite Arruza, a manually strangled human's body will ooze a bloody discharge. R14, p. 887.

DEFENDANT'S EMPLOYMENT AT A CONVENIENCE STORE

On the night before the disappearance, the Defendant showed up at his convenience store job at 10:00 p.m. to work the "graveyard shift." The graveyard shift ended at 7:00 a.m. on the morning of the disappearance. R16, p. 1378.

The Defendant was scheduled to begin another shift, just six hours later, at 2:00 p.m. in the afternoon of the disappearance. R16, p. 1321. However, the Defendant arrived late. R16, p. 1371. Time clock records reflect that he clocked in at 2:31 p.m. of the afternoon of the disappearance (R16, p. 1384), completed his shift, and clocked back out at 11:01 p.m. in the evening of the disappearance. R16, p. 1386.

At 6:00 a.m., the Defendant was present at the home of a girlfriend of his named Jamilla Jones. *See* testimony of Jamilla Jones, R8, p. 778-779.

There was no dispute about the times when the Defendant was present at his job. However, the question of what the Defendant was doing when he was *not* at work was hotly disputed. The prosecution and the defense each presented a great deal of evidence to show what the Defendant was doing between 7:00 a.m. and 2:31 p.m. on the day of the disappearance. This encompassed the time when Bernard Griffin claimed the murders occurred (see below).

The prosecution and defense also presented a great deal of evidence to show what the Defendant was doing between 11:01 that night and 6:00 the following morning. This encompassed the time that Bernard Griffin claimed the body-disposal trip occurred (see below).

CONFLICTING EVIDENCE OF THE DEFENDANT'S WHEREABOUTS AROUND THE TIME OF THE PURPORTED KILLING TRIP

A tire repair shop employee named Jimmy Horton told Detective Mark Romano that the Defendant dropped off a flat tire for repair at 9:00 in the morning of the disappearance and returned and picked it up at 1:00 that afternoon. R16, p. 1249. However, Mr. Horton later admitted that the repair was completed quickly and that the Defendant was out of the shop by 1:00 p.m., perhaps earlier. R18, p. 1631-1632. Mr. Horton also admitted that he had previously told the police that the Defendant acted nervous and said he needed a receipt for Court. R18, p. 1634.

The Defendant called a newspaper reporter from jail. The Defendant told the reporter that, during the afternoon of the disappearance, his time was consumed with getting a flat tire repaired, meeting briefly with Lynda Wilkes around "late 12:00 or something," arriving back at his own home around 1:00 in the afternoon, attempting some do-it-yourself plumbing repairs, calling a plumber, readying himself for work, and ultimately arriving at his convenience store job around 2:15 p.m. R 17, p. 1420-1426.

Police Sergeant Eason spoke with the Defendant during the initial "missing person" investigation. According to Sergeant Eason, the Defendant had a flat tire en route to his rendevous with Lynda Wilkes at the JC Penney parking lot. R14, p.

982. He telephoned Lynda Wilkes from a pay phone across the street from the JC Penney store. He told her he would meet her at 12:45 or 1:00 that afternoon. R14, p. 982. Another police detective testified that subpoenaed telephone records confirmed that such a pay phone call was indeed made at 11:38. a.m. R16, p. 1214.

The Defendant further explained to Sergeant Eason that, after leaving the tire shop, he stopped and talked about drugs with a cousin who lived on Lem Turner Boulevard. R14, p. 982. From there, he drove to the JC Penny shopping center and met Lynda Wilkes. The two of them conversed awhile and then headed off to view some nearby homes which were offered for sale. R14, p. 985. After that, they parked behind the JC Penney shopping center and Lynda Wilkes performed oral sex on him. R14, p. 986-987.

The Defendant left Lynda Wilkes and the JC Penney shopping center at 1:00 p.m. and heading home. R14, p. 986-987. Additional, substantially similar testimony appears in Volume 14, pages 914-915 and pages 966-967 of the record on appeal. The Defendant also spoke to missing persons police detective Dennis Fuentes by telephone. According to Detective Fuentes, the Defendant said that he left Lynda Wilkes at the JC Penney Shopping center at 1:30 p.m., after the two had a sexual encounter. R14, p. 926-928.

The Defendant's daughter, Amber Mosley, testified that she saw the Defendant inside the family home at approximately 1:00 p.m. that afternoon. R19, p. 1812-1813. The Defendant's Wife, Carolyn Mosley also testified that the Defendant had arrived home around 1:00. R19, p. 1897-1899.

CONFLICTING EVIDENCE OF THE DEFENDANT'S WHEREABOUTS DURING THE TIME OF THE BODY-DISPOSAL TRIP

A bank ATM machine receipt was among the items found in the Defendant's truck. After some investigation, the prosecution and the defense stipulated that the Defendant was indeed present and using the ATM machine at 11:08 p.m. of the evening of the disappearance. R17, p. 1550.

The Defendant's daughter, Alexis Mosley, testified at Defendant's trial. She observed the Defendant and his truck at the family home at 11:30 p.m. on the night of the disappearance. R19, p. 1823. However, she did not have an opportunity to observe the Defendant later on, during the middle of the night. R19, p. 1827.

The Defendant's wife, Carolyn Mosley, similarly testified that the Defendant slept with her in the family home on the evening of the disappearance. She herself fell asleep around 1:00 a.m. (R19, p. 1891-1892 and p. 1991).

The Defendant's Daughter, Alexis Mosley, testified that she observed the Defendant and his truck at the family home at 5:15 a.m. on the morning after the disappearance. R19, p. 1825- 1826. The Defendant's wife, Carolyn Mosley, similarly testified that the Defendant and his truck were present at the family home at 5:30 a.m. on the morning after the disappearance. R19, p. 1892-1902.

Ms. Mosley was adamant that the Defendant was indeed at home and was not with Jamilla Jones at 6:10 in the morning after the disappearance. R19, p. 1910. Jamilla Jones, however, testified that the Defendant was at her home at 6:00 a.m. R16, p. 1386.

Fellow convenience store employees testified that the Defendant was scheduled to begin work around 6:00 or 7:00 in the morning after the disappearance. However, the Defendant called in and notified his co-workers that he would be late because he had been up all night and did not get any sleep. R16, p. 1385-1387. Convenience store records reflected that the Defendant did not clock in until 12:49 p.m. that afternoon.

THEORY OF DEFENSE

Defense counsel's guilt-phase opening argument revealed that the defense strategy was to make the jurors wonder if Bernard Griffin had framed the Defendant. Defense counsel told the jurors, "... the family annoited Mr. Mosley as the easy target." Later on, during a mid-trial hearing on a defense continuance motion, defense counsel explained to the trial Court judge that the "theory of defense" was that Bernard Griffin and somebody else committed the offenses and that Bernard Griffin was someone with a history of falsely shifting blame in criminal cases. R19, p 1953.

The questions Defense counsel asked the various witnesses were clearly intended to fuel speculation that Bernard Griffin borrowed the Defendant's cell phone and truck for the crimes. During cross-examination, defense counsel got lead detective Mark Romano to admit that no one bothered to ask Bernard Griffin if he had borrowed the Defendant's cell phone. R15, p. 1155. Defense counsel also got Bernard Griffin to admit that he occasionally drove without a license. R13, p. 753.

Later on, during guilt-phase closing argument, defense counsel argued that Bernard Griffin, with the help of an unknown accomplice, had committed the

murders and had framed the Defendant in order to draw attention away from himself. R20, p. 2023.

POOR CREDIBILITY OF BERNARD GRIFFIN

The defense did much to attack the credibility of Bernard Griffin. Bernard Griffin admitted that he was on probation. R13, p. 675. He admitted that he had asked the Defendant for a gun for his own drug-selling activities. R13, p. 727. He admitted he was sentenced on a third-degree felony the day before the disappearance. R13, p. 727.

Griffin admitted telephoning his relatives from jail and assuring them he would be getting out of jail soon. R13, p. 729-730. He admitted that he would occasionally drive without a license. R13, p. 679, 752.

The defense questioned police detective Mark Romano. Detective Romano admitted on cross-examination that Bernard Griffin was convicted of a third-degree felony and had been on probation at the time of the disappearance. R15, p. 1115.

Detective Romano also admitted that Bernard Griffin kept changing his story (R15, p. 1126-1128) and occasionally strayed so far from the truth that Detective Romano had to admonish him to stop lying. R15, p. 1155.

Detective Romano also admitted that Bernard Griffin initially denied knowing that the victims' bodies were in the truck during the body-disposal trip. R15, p. 1170-1171.

The defense also presented a recorded jail telephone conversation in which Bernard Griffin told his mother that he would not have to serve prison time and had been promised help with finding a job after he got out of jail. R19, p. 1868. This suggested that Bernard Griffin had worked out some kind of "deal" with the prosecution.

CELL PHONE TOWER EVIDENCE

The State presented demonstrative graphics and testimonial evidence of the location of the cell phone towers that the Defendant's cell phone connected with during the evening of the body-disposal trip. This evidence suggested that the Defendant's cell phone was in the vicinity the Maxville, Florida cell phone tower at 12:27 a.m. and was in the vicinity of Orange Heights, Florida cell phone tower at 2:24 a.m.

These cell phone towers are indeed close to the Waldo-area field where Lynda Wilkes' charred body was found. R16, p. 1285-1290 and State's Exhibit 77. R16, p. 1288-1289. *See also* chart and maps included in State's Exhibit 77.

In closing argument, defense counsel argued that it was this evidence of the Defendant's cell phone connecting with these towers and not the cooperation of Bernard Griffin that led the police to Lynda Wilkes' body, not Bernard Griffin. R20, p. 2034.

"CONSCIOUSNESS OF GUILT" EVIDENCE

The prosecution presented a great deal of testimony which was obviously intended to show the Defendant's consciousness of his own guilt.

Jamilla Jones was a woman who "had a relationship" with the Defendant. They had been "going out" together. R13, p. 771-772. The Defendant was present at her apartment at 6:00 in the morning after the disappearance. He gave her \$20 cash. R13, p. 788.

After his arrest, the Defendant wrote her a letter from jail. He urged her to "tell the truth" and tell the police that he arrived at her house at 6:08 a.m. He also wrote, "In order to refresh your memory I called you April 23rd . . . at 6:07 a.m.

The police think we are stupid." R13, p. 787. He also wrote, "Do not lie at trial and say that boy (i.e. Bernard Griffin) was with me because I know you really don't know." R13, p. 787.

The Defendant also wrote: "It is legal and okay to change your statement in Court if you let the jury know the police pressured and coerced you to say something before they took the statement and during the statement. Those corrupt police officers don't care about you, me or Lynda W. They just see this as an opportunity to take another black man off the street. You are the only one that can put me on death row." R13, p. 784.

Contrary to the spin put on the letter by the prosecution, the defendant's letter to Jamila Jones speaks for itself. The defendant expressed that he is innocent and pleads with Jones to do nothing but tell the truth.

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