JOHN F. MOSLEY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC06-1408

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS PL-01, THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

the Federal Constitution would not. For instance, Mosley does not point to any language in Florida's constitution that supports the notion that Florida's due process clause affords greater protection, on any issue raised in his brief, than its federal counterpart.<sup>4</sup> Nor does he point to any case law which provides support for this claim.

At least one Florida court, however, in a criminal case, has squarely addressed the issue of whether Florida's due process clause affords more protection than does the United States Constitution. In <u>Barrett v. State</u>, 862 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the defendant challenged Section 775.051, Florida Statutes, which eliminated voluntary intoxication as a defense to any criminal offense and rendered evidence of voluntary intoxication inadmissible to show the defendant lacked the specific intent to commit a crime.

Barrett alleged that, although the federal due process clause did not bar Florida from eliminating voluntary intoxication as a defense to the *mens rea* element of first degree murder, Florida's due process clause does. Barrett

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides, in pertinent part, that "[n]o persons shall be . . . deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." Section 1 of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides, in pertinent part, that no state shall "deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." Article 1, § 9 of the Florida Constitution provides that: No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law....

asserted that the Florida Constitution provides broader due process protections than the Federal Constitution.

The Second District Court of Appeal rejected his claim. The court noted that the due process language used in the Florida and United States Constitutions is virtually identical. The court found there was no basis to conclude the Florida Constitution provides greater protections to Barrett than does the United States Constitution. <u>Barrett v. State</u>, 862 So. 2d at 48. See also <u>Troy v. State</u>, 948 So. 2d 635, 645 (Fla. 2006) (citing with approval to the 2d DCA's conclusion in <u>Barrett</u> that there is no basis to conclude that the Florida Constitution provides greater due process protections than does the United States Constitution in relation to the elimination of voluntary intoxication as a defense to a criminal offense).

Mosley has provided no sound basis for this court to find that Florida's constitution provides any more due process in his case than that granted by the United States Constitution. This Court should reject Mosley's first claim.

#### ISSUE II

## WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR'S REMARKS DURING VOIR DIRE AND CLOSING ARGUMENT DEPRIVED MOSLEY OF A FAIR TRIAL.

In this claim, Mosley alleges the prosecutor made several remarks that acted to deprive him of a fair trial. In order for the prosecutor's comments to merit a new trial, the comments must either deprive the defendant of a fair and impartial trial, materially contribute to the conviction, be so harmful or fundamentally tainted as to require a new trial, or be so inflammatory that they might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict than that it would have otherwise. <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 945 So. 2d 405, 420 (Fla. 2007); <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 645 So. 2d 377, 383 (Fla. 1994).

## A. The State does not seek death in every case

Mosley complains the prosecutor improperly told the jury, twice, that the State does not seek death in every case. Mosley admits that no objection was made at trial. (IB 29-30).

Ordinarily, failure to lodge a contemporaneous objection bars review of the claim on appeal. <u>McDonald v. State</u>, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999); <u>Urbin v. State</u>, 714 So. 2d 411, 418 n.8 (Fla. 1998). The sole exception to this general rule is where the comments rise to the level of fundamental error. <u>McDonald</u> v. State, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999).

This Court has defined fundamental error as error that reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error. <u>McDonald v. State</u>, 743 So. at 505 (Fla. 1999). Mosley has not shown that either of the comments, about which he takes issue, constitutes fundamental error.

The first comment about which Mosley complains came during voir dire when the prosecutor inquired about potential jurors' views on the death penalty. The prosecutor told the jury:

Okay. All right. I now want to discuss the death penalty with you, and let me just tell you kind of the issue that we're looking at and as Judge Weatherby touched on this morning we all do have some idea probably of our thoughts on the death penalty. You may be for it. You may be against it and we're not seeking to find fault with anyone so please do not feel that way.

The ultimate question is: Would your views about the death penalty prevent you or substantially impair your ability to perform your duties as a juror in this particular case? So as I am going through this I kind of hope that will be in the back of your mind. That's the ultimate question.

We need people who can come to this courtroom with an open mind despite their preconceived notions or experiences and follow the Court's instruction with regard to the death penalty, so I's going to ask questions in that vein with the understanding again as Judge Weatherby mentioned there's only two possible penalties if the defendant is found guilty of first degree murder, the death penalty or life imprisonment without the possibility of parole.

First of all does everyone understand that the death penalty is not sought in every first degree murder case? (TR Vol. X 184)

This Court has ruled that it is improper for the State to inform the jury that the State does not seek the death penalty in every case. This Court has concluded such a statement is irrelevant and tends to cloak the State's case with legitimacy as a bona-fide death penalty prosecution. <u>Brooks v. State</u>, 762 So. 2d 879, 901 (Fla. 2000).

In this case, however, the remark was made in the context of exploring potential juror's view on the death penalty. Unlike the case in <u>Brooks</u>, the prosecutor did not compare and contrast Mosley's case to a case where seeking death would be either inappropriate or constitutionally permissible. <u>Brooks v.</u> <u>State</u>, 762 So.2d at 901. Nor did the prosecutor attempt to legitimize the decision to seek death by explaining that it was the judgment of the State Attorney's staff, after investigation and discussion, that death was appropriate. <u>Pait v. State</u>, 112 So. 2d 380, 384-385 (Fla. 1959).

Even if this Court were to find this isolated comment error, there is no basis to find fundamental error. No reasonable juror would be driven to return a verdict he would not otherwise return or be unduly influenced by an isolated comment during voir dire that the State does not seek death in every first degree murder case. It is also beyond obvious, even

to a lay person, that not every murder case warrants the death penalty. Indeed, the jury rejected the State's request to recommend death for both murders and recommended Mosley be sentenced to life in prison for murdering Lynda Wilkes. Mosley failed to show this comment constituted fundamental error. Mosley's claim should be denied.

The second comment about which Mosley complains occurred during the penalty phase closing arguments twenty-one days after voir dire. The prosecutor told the jury:

As His Honor told you and we have told you death is not appropriate and it's not sought in every first degree murder case but it is sought in this one, and his Honor again will go over with you aggravating circumstances and mitigation and he will tell you it's not a counting process. It's not does the state have more aggravators or does the defense have more It's a qualitative process, what is mitigators. heavier, what means more. That's how you decide, and as we talked about this morning you will render a recommendation for each of these murders, one for Lynda Wilkes and one for Jay-Quan. (TR Vol. XXII 2412).

Mosley failed to show this brief comment constituted fundamental error. The comment was made in the context of a legally correct explanation of the weighing process. Once again, the prosecutor did not compare and contrast Mosley's case to a case where seeking death would be either inappropriate or constitutionally permissible, nor did he tell the jury that the decision to seek death stemmed from the collective wisdom of the State Attorney's Office. <u>Brooks v. State</u>, 762 So.2d at 901.

It defies law and logic to argue that this comment made a difference to the jury's recommendation let alone rose to the level that a death recommendation could not have been obtained without the assistance of the prosecutor's remark. This is made manifest by the jury's split recommendation for life in prison for the murder of Lynda Wilkes and death for the murder of Jay-Quan Mosley. Mosley failed to show this comment constituted fundamental error. Mosley's claim should be denied.

## B. <u>A comparative worth argument</u>

In this claim, Mosley alleges that two comments of the prosecutor improperly asked the jurors to compare the value of the victim's life to the Defendant's. Mosley admits that no objection was made to either comment. Accordingly, this Court may reverse only if it finds fundamental error. <u>McDonald v.</u> State, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999).

The first comment about which Mosley takes issue came when the prosecutor told the jury that Lynda Wilkes was a sister, a daughter, a mother, a friend, and a human being. The prosecutor went on to describe Jay-Quan as a healthy, helpless 10 month-old who had an infectious toothless grin. The prosecutor told the jury that Lynda and Jay-Quan were dead. (TR Vol. XIX 1988).

Mosley alleges it is improper to ask jurors to compare the value of the victim's life with the value of the Defendant's life. While the State does not disagree with this general

principal, the record refutes any notion that the prosecutor made any comparison at all between the value of Lydia and Jay-Quan's life and the value of John Mosley's life. As Mosley failed to show that the prosecutor made a "comparative worth argument" at all, his claim must fail.

The second comment about which Mosley complains is the same comment about which he alleged constituted improper legitimizing of the State's decision to seek the death penalty. Mosley alleges that the prosecutor made an improper "comparative worth" argument when he told the jury that "death is not appropriate and it's not sought in every first degree murder case but it is sought in this one." (TR Vol. XXII 2412).

Mosley does not offer any insight into how this statement implicitly compares the victim's life to the defendant's life. Nor does he point to any case in which this Court, or any other court, has concluded that this argument constitutes an improper "comparative worth" argument. This Court should reject this claim.

### C. Bad Acts made a feature of the trial

In this claim, Mosley alleges the prosecutor improperly made the defendant's other bad acts a feature of the trial. In particular, the defendant complains that the prosecutor implied that Mosley stole a driver's license found in his car. Mosley also complains the prosecutor improperly made an issue of

Mosley's multiple extra-marital affairs. Mosley admits that no objection was made at trial. Accordingly, this Court may reverse only if it finds fundamental error. <u>McDonald v. State</u>, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999).

The first "bad act" about which Mosley complains is the prosecutor's argument that "This guy is driving around with other people's driver's licenses in his car." (IB 33). It was the defense, however, and not the prosecution who initially introduced the driver's license into evidence.

During the defense's case-in-chief, Mosley called Detective Romano to the witness stand. Trial counsel inquired about items found in the car. Detective Romano told the jury that a spiral notebook and a driver's license belonging to a Mr. Bowden were found in the car. (TR Vol. XVIII 1641-1650). Prior to his testimony, the State had not introduced any evidence that Mosley was in possession of someone else's license. The police did not take any steps to interview Mr. Bowden.

There were also some realtor cards found in the car. The police did not make any contact with any of the realtors. In Detective Romano's view, there was no reason to talk with the realtors. Along with a spiral notebook and the realtors' cards, trial counsel published Mr. Bowden's license to the jury. (TR Vol. XVIII 1641-1650). During closing argument, trial counsel pointed to the fact that someone's driver's license was found in

Mosley's car but the police did not investigate because they were already convinced that Mosley killed Ms. Wilkes and Jay-Quan. (TR Vol. XIX 1996).

The remark about which Mosley complains came during the prosecutor's rebuttal argument. The prosecutor noted that:

You heard about the driver's license in the defendant's car. This wasn't in Bernard's car. Ms. Holmquist got this driver's license of some unknown person in the defendant's car. Now, Detective Romano told you that he did run him but he had nothing to do with the case. This guy is driving around with other people's drivers licenses in his car. (TR Vol. XX 2072-2073).

In context, the prosecutor's remark is directly in response to Mosley's suggestion that the police botched this murder investigation by not interviewing a person whose driver's license was found in Mosley's car. (TR Vol. XIX 1996). Because Mosley certainly attempted to imply that Mr. Bowden should have been a person of interest, the prosecutor's comments were in response to Mosley's argument that the police botched the investigation of this case. Dailey v. State, 965 So. 2d 38, 44 (Fla. 2007) (prosecutorial comment rebutting defendant's attack, during closing argument, on credibility of а witness permissible); Walls v. State, 926 So. 2d 1156, 1166 (Fla. 2006) (a prosecutor's comments are not improper where they fall into the category of an "invited response" by the preceding argument of defense counsel concerning the same subject). This is

especially true as there was not one scintilla of evidence that linked Mr. Bowden to the murder.<sup>5</sup>

The second bad act about which Mosley complains is evidence of his extra-marital affairs. As Mosley admits, the defense, during opening statement, told the jury that Mosley was a philanderer who was having three extramarital affairs at the time of the murder. (IB 32)(TR Vol. XII 582-583). Trial counsel also reminded the jury during his own closing argument that while extramarital relationships are not enjoyable for a family to talk about, "we've agreed that's not what we're here to prove."

Nonetheless, Mosley claims that fundamental error occurred when the prosecutor, during his rebuttal closing argument, told the jury that "Mosley had girlfriends all over the place. One of them is trying to get child support." Mosley's argument of fundamental error must fail for at least three reasons.

First, it is clear that Mosley himself decided to be upfront about his multiple affairs in a pre-emptive attempt to lessen any adverse impact on the jury. Second, the comment about Mosley's girlfriends came in direct response to trial counsel's argument, during closing argument, designed to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> While Mosley himself introduced evidence regarding the contents of his car, Mosley offered no explanation why the license was in his car nor presented any evidence that Mosley "lent" his Suburban to Mr. Bowden.

convince the jury that Mosley in leading his "normal life" was an innocent man. (TR Vol. XX 2026). It is not error, let alone fundamental error to argue in direct rebuttal to a claim a defendant's claim of innocence. <u>Dailey v. State</u>, 965 So. 2d 38, 44 (Fla. 2007) (prosecutorial comment rebutting a portion of defendant's closing argument not error); <u>Walls v. State</u>, 926 So. 2d 1156, 1166 (Fla. 2006) (a prosecutor's comments are not improper where they fall into the category of an "invited response" by the preceding argument of defense counsel concerning the same subject).

Finally, this Court may deny this claim because any error in this brief comment certainly did not rise to the level of fundamental error. This is especially true since the defendant, himself, brought Mosley's affairs to the attention of the jury. In short, Mosley has made no showing the prosecutor's comment about Mosley's girlfriends led the jury to reach a verdict of guilty that they ordinarily would not have reached absent the comment. McDonald v. State, 743 So. 2d at 505 (Fla. 1999).

## D. The Golden Rule Comments

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